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DEPARTMENT:   12 
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GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR CONTESTING TENTATIVE RULINGS IN DEPT. 12 

 
NOTE PROCEDURE CAREFULLY 

 
The tentative ruling will become the Court’s ruling unless by 4:00 p.m. of the court day preceding 
the hearing, counsel or self-represented parties call the department rendering the decision to 
request argument and to specify the issues to be argued. Calling counsel or self-represented 
parties requesting argument must advise all other affected counsel and self-represented parties by 
no later than 4:00 p.m. of his or her decision to appear and of the issues to be argued. Failure to 
timely advise the Court and counsel or self-represented parties will preclude any party from 
arguing the matter. (Local Rule 3.43(2).) 
 
Note: In order to minimize the risk of miscommunication, Dept. 12 prefers and encourages fax or 
email notification to the department of the request to argue and specification of issues to be 
argued – with a STRONG PREFERENCE FOR EMAIL NOTIFICATION.  Dept. 12’s Fax Number 
is: (925) 608-2693.  Dept. 12’s email address is: dept12@contracosta.courts.ca.gov.  Warning: 
this email address is not be used for any communication with the department except as expressly 
and specifically authorized by the court.  Any emails received in contravention of this order will be 
disregarded by the court and may subject the offending party to sanctions. 
 
 

Submission of Orders After Hearing in Department 12 Cases 
 
The prevailing party must prepare an order after hearing in accordance with CRC 3.1312. If the 
tentative ruling becomes the Court’s ruling, a copy of the Court’s tentative ruling must be 
attached to the proposed order when submitted to the Court for issuance of the order. 
 

 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-00422 
CASE NAME: CLARK VS. QASSEM 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY SAFEGUARD 
PROPERTIES MANAGEMENT, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant/cross-defendant Safeguard moves for summary judgment.  The motion is principally 

directed against the claims of plaintiffs against Safeguard, and it is granted. 

Safeguard also moves for summary judgment against the indemnity Cross-Complaints of 

Seterus, Inc. and Classic Realty Consultants, Inc.  That part of the motion is unopposed, and it 

is also granted.  Both cross-complaints seek indemnity as to Plaintiffs’ claims, and both 

indemnity claims rest entirely on the assumption (perhaps arguendo) that Safeguard may have 

tort liability directly to plaintiffs.  However, as discussed further below, Safeguard owes no tort 

duty to third parties for injuries sustained on the subject property.  This forecloses Safeguard’s 

liability on the cross-complaints too. 

Standard 
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Code of Civil Procedure § 437c provides the relevant legal standard for deciding the MSJ.  

Section 437c(o)(1) provides, in relevant part: 

A cause of action has no merit if one or more of the elements of the cause of 

action cannot be separately established, even if that element is separately 

pleaded. 

Section 437c(p)(2) provides, in relevant part: 

A defendant or cross-defendant has met his or her burden of showing that a 

cause of action has no merit if that party has shown that one or more elements of 

the cause of action, even if not separately pleaded, cannot be established, or that 

there is a complete defense to that cause of action. Once the defendant or cross-

defendant has met that burden, the burden shifts to the plaintiff or cross-

complainant to show that a triable issue of one or more material facts exists as to 

the cause of action or a defense thereto. The plaintiff or cross-complainant shall 

not rely upon the mere allegations or denials of its pleadings to show that a 

triable issue of material fact exists but, instead, shall set forth the specific facts 

showing that a triable issue of material fact exists as to that cause of action or a 

defense thereto.  

In Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, the California Supreme Court clarified 

the legal principles and standards that apply to summary judgment proceedings under § 437c.  

“[T]he part[ies] moving for summary judgment bear[] the burden of persuasion that there is no 

triable issue of material fact and that [they are] entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  (Id. at 

850, fn. omitted.)  Defendants moving for summary judgment “bear[] the burden of persuasion 

that ‘one or more elements of’ the ‘cause of action’ in question ‘cannot be established,’ or that 

‘there is a complete defense’ thereto.”  Ibid.; §437c, subds. (o)(2).  In such a case, the moving 

defendants “bear[] [the] initial burden of production to make a prima facie showing of the 

nonexistence of any triable issue of material fact.”  (25 Cal.4th at 850.) 

If the moving defendants meet this burden of production, the burden of production shifts to the 

plaintiffs to make a prima facie showing of the existence of a triable issue of material fact.  (25 

Cal.4th at 850.)  A triable issue of material fact exists “if, and only if, the evidence would allow a 

reasonable trier of fact to find the underlying fact in favor of the part[ies] opposing the motion in 

accordance with the applicable standard of proof.”  (Ibid., fn. omitted.) 

At the outset, the Court notes that the separate statement is not the place for extended 

argument. California Rule of Court 3.1350 directs that the response unequivocally state whether 

that fact is “disputed” or “undisputed,” and that for disputed facts, the opposing party state “the 

nature of the dispute and describe the evidence that supports the position that the fact is 

controverted.”  CRC 3.1350(f)(2).  Although plaintiffs’ opposition to Safeguard’s separate 

statement of undisputed facts does this, it is also replete with argument and as a consequence 

is a way-overlong 156 pages, making navigation difficult. 

Factual Background 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   12 
HEARING DATE:   06/07/19 

 
 

- 3 - 

The parties agree on the basic factual setting of the case.  As plaintiffs’ brief puts it (at 1):  “On 

November 30, 2014, Plaintiffs, Frank (15) and Bruce Clark (13), were visiting their uncle 

Brandon Qassem at 1513 7th St. for the Thanksgiving holiday. … That morning, the boys 

walked over to unit 1505 to ask their uncle when they would be going home. … Unbeknownst to 

the Clark boys, their uncle was manufacturing butane honey oil in a backroom of the unit. … 

When the boys entered the unit, an explosion occurred. … The Clark boys were engulfed in 

flames and suffered catastrophic burns to 40-60% of their bodies, including disfiguring facial 

burns….” 

Also undisputed on this motion is the relationship of Safeguard to the property in question.  The 

property was controlled by defendant Seterus.  Seterus hired Safeguard to secure and maintain 

the property.  Qassem was squatting on the premises. 

Less clear is the basis on which Brandon Qassem was residing on the premises when he invited 

his nephews there.  It is not claimed, however, that he was lawfully living there under a lease, 

rental agreement, or permission of the owner.  He appears to have been somewhere between a 

holdover, a trespasser, or a squatter. 

Analysis 

A quick perusal of plaintiffs’ opposition brief here suffices to show the defect in their claims 

against Seterus.  Plaintiffs spend their brief demonstrating why, in their view, Safeguard was 

remiss in fulfilling its contractual duty to Seterus in securing the property.  Maybe so, and there 

may well be factual disputes as to how Safeguard fulfilled its duty to Seterus.  But entirely 

overlooked in plaintiffs’ opposition papers is the key question here:  Did Safeguard owe any tort 

duty running to third parties, such as plaintiffs, concerning securing the property?  Plaintiffs 

make no effort to establish any such duty sounding in tort and running to plaintiffs.  That’s why 

they lose this motion. 

“The elements of a negligence claim and a premises liability claim are the same: a legal duty of 

care, breach of that duty, and proximate cause resulting in injury.”  Kesner v. Superior Court 

(2016) 1 Cal.5th 1132, 1158.  

Here, the alleged duty is as between Safeguard, an entity in the property preservation business 

(DMF 8) and plaintiffs, two minors who were visiting their uncle at the subject property (UMF 

1,2).  Whether Safeguard has a duty to the Plaintiffs “is a question of law to be resolved by the 

court.”  Artiglio v. Corning Inc. (1998) 18 Cal.4th 604, 614 (quoting Bily v. Arthur Young & Co. 

(1992) 3 Cal.4th 370, 397).  

As a general matter, there is no duty to act to protect others from the conduct of third parties.  

Tarasoff v. Regents of University of California (1976) 17 Cal.3d 425, 435; see also Paz v. State 

of California (2000) 22 Cal.4th 550, 558; Williams v. State of California (1983) 34 Cal.3d 18, 23. 

Courts have recognized exceptions to this rule, such as the “special relationship” doctrine.  

While the common law concept of special relationships includes, among others, the relationship 

between a “landowner or possessor and person coming on the land,” a special relationship also 

may arise out of a statutory or contractual duty, or out of “a voluntary assumption of a duty upon 
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which a person reasonably relies.”  Seo v. All-Makes Overhead Doors (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 

1193, 1203.  “If a special relationship arises out of a contractual duty, the duty is owed not only 

to the parties to the contract but also to those persons intended to be benefited by the 

performance of the contract.” Ibid. 

As the California Supreme Court recently reaffirmed:  

The test for determining the existence of such an exceptional duty to third parties 

is set forth in the seminal case of Biakanja, supra, 49 Cal.2d at page 650, as 

follows: “The determination whether in a specific case the defendant will be held 

liable to a third person not in privity is a matter of policy and involves the 

balancing of various factors, among which are [1] the extent to which the 

transaction was intended to affect the plaintiff, [2] the foreseeability of harm to 

him, [3] the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury, [4] the closeness 

of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered, [5] the 

moral blame attached to the defendant’s conduct, and [6] the policy of preventing 

future harm.” 

Centinela Freeman Emergency Medical Associates v. Health Net of California, Inc. (2016) 

1 Cal.5th at 994, 1013-14.  Courts examine the Biakanja factors to determine whether to impose 

on defendant “an exceptional duty to third parties.”  Centinela, 1 Cal.5th at 1013.  

Plaintiffs’ Opposition conflates the question of Safeguard’s duty with respect to the performance 
of its contract with Seterus, on one hand, with the question of whether Safeguard owes the 
Plaintiffs a tort-based duty of care, on the other.  By doing so, Plaintiffs attempt to litigate the 
issue of whether Safeguard negligently performed its contractual duties, rather than address the 
question of whether Safeguard had any duty to the Plaintiffs at all.  The latter is the question 
before the Court on this motion. 

Furthermore, rather than address the Biankanja factors, the Opposition assumes duty on the 

grounds that “Safeguard, by way of Seterus, controlled the property from at least March 2014 to 

the date of the explosion.”  Opp. at 10:16-17.  Essentially, Plaintiffs’ Opposition attempts to 

impose a duty on Safeguard through an argument that Seterus, who contracted with Safeguard, 

owed a duty to Plaintiffs much like any owner of property.  Their entire argument flows from this 

assumption but is not supported by any authority or evidence. 

The very manner in which Plaintiffs frame their argument is telling; they argue that questions of 

fact exist as to four specific questions:  

(1) Whether Safeguard breached its contractual duties to “secure and maintain” 

the property; (2) whether Safeguard breached its contractual duties to provide 

“qualified, trained, and skilled agents”; (3) when Safeguard was instructed and/or 

required to “secure” the property; and (4) whether Safeguard took steps to 

“protect and preserve” the property to “prevent injury to persons or property.” 

Opp. at 1:24-28.  All these questions relate to Safeguard’s contract with Seterus, a contract to 

which Plaintiffs are not a party and which Plaintiffs do not argue was made expressly for their 
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benefit.  Absent that contract, there would be no basis for suggesting that Safeguard had any 

duty whatsoever to anybody whatsoever with respect to this property.  As Seo comments (97 

Cal.App.4th at 1203), where the only basis for a duty arises from a contract, the duty runs only 

to parties to the contract, or intended third-party beneficiaries.  While there is some authority to 

suggest that third party beneficiaries “may possess the rights of parties to the contract” (see Bily 

v. Arthur Young & Co. (1992) 3 Cal.4th 370, 406 fn. 16), Plaintiffs have made no argument that 

the contract at issue here creates a legal duty of care to them, or that the contracting parties 

intended that any random trespasser would be a “third-party beneficiary” of Safeguard’s 

undertakings to Seterus.  Instead, plaintiffs have essentially skipped over the question of a duty 

of care, and moved directly to breach.  

As a consequence, the Court cannot conclude that Safeguard owed a duty of care to these 

plaintiffs. There is no argument or evidence that Safeguard and plaintiffs had a “special 

relationship” or that the contract between Safeguard and Seterus was intended to benefit 

plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs have not demonstrated that Safeguard owed them a duty of care.  

Evidentiary Objections 

The Court need only rule on those objections to evidence that were material to the disposition of 
the MSA. See Code of Civil Procedure § 437c(q).  Here, there were none. 

  

  
 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01639 
CASE NAME: MASON VS AMERICAN MEDICAL RESP 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE & TAX COSTS FILED BY AMERICAN 
MEDICAL RESPONSE, INC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant AMR’s motion to strike or tax costs is granted in part and denied in part.  The 
amount of cross-defendants’ costs is reduced by $2,578,42.  In all other respects the motion is 
denied. 
 
Cross-defendants’ memorandum of costs was timely filed.  It was filed more than 15 days after 
the Court’s order granting summary judgment; but an order on a motion (even a dispositive one) 
is not the “notice of entry of judgment or dismissal” referred to in CRC 3.1700(a)(1).  The 
judgment was not filed until May 3, after the memorandum of costs. 
 
Some $1,500 of cross-defendants’ costs are the $500 filing fee for three nominally separate but 
substantially identical summary judgment motions, filed on behalf of three cross-defendants.  
The Court commented at the time that these could and should have been filed as a single 
motion on behalf of all three; among other things, triplicate filings tripled the volume of the very 
extensive supporting evidence submitted.  The Court agrees that two-thirds of this item was 
incurred needlessly, and it taxes this item to that extent. 
 
As for the remainder of AMR’s motion, both sides have proceeded by the book.  Cross-
defendants properly included a number of items in their memorandum of costs without providing 
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any detail or supporting documentation, which they were not required to provide at that juncture.  
AMR properly called those items into question in its motion, effectively calling on cross-
defendants to provide their supporting documentation.  Cross-defendants properly provided that 
documentation in their response to the motion.  AMR properly presented its critiques of that 
documentation in its reply brief.  (Though, the Court notes, even where AMR critiqued only part 
of an item, it seeks to tax the whole item, which is overreaching.) 
 
Of AMR’s critiques, only one appears well-taken.  Cross-defendants’ item 12 seeks $2,323.08 
for copying costs, which evidently means the cost of copying the voluminous materials filed and 
served in support of summary judgment.  As noted above, however, cross-defendants filed and 
served three identical sets of these papers, when one would have done.  The Court accordingly 
taxes two-thirds of this item, or $1,548.72. 
 
Cross-defendants should present an amended judgment accordingly. 
 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00652 
CASE NAME: CM ROE VS OAKLEY UNION ESD 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The proposed minor’s compromise is approved. 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00685 
CASE NAME: OLIVER VS THE DOW CHEMICAL CO 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF CLASS 
SETTLEMENT FILED BY DERION OLIVER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The Court has received no supplemental papers as directed in its ruling of May 17.  The motion 
for preliminary approval is therefore denied, without prejudice to renewal addressing the 
concern raised in that ruling. 
 

 

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-01429 
CASE NAME: THOMSON VS ANDERSON 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR LEAVE TO FILE FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
FILED BY THOMSON 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This motion is taken off calendar.  There is no proof that the motion papers were served on 
defendants.  The Court, however, invites the parties to proceed by stipulation. 
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 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01302 
CASE NAME: ALTAMIRANO VS. STONE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR SET ASIDE DEFAULT FILED BY JAVIER 
CHARLES STONE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant Stone moves for relief from the default previously entered against him.  No 
opposition to the motion has been filed, and it is granted.  Defendant must file and serve his 
answer by June 14. 
 
Stone’s declaration acknowledges that “the unsigned First Amended Complaint” was served on 
him at the Spinetta courthouse on February 9, 2019, but that nothing else was served.  The 
“something else” that should have been served would have been the Summons; it is unclear 
whether Stone is denying that that document was included in what he received. 
 
In any event, though, Stone does not seek to require plaintiffs to serve him again.  He offers to 
appear and defend, and proffers a proposed Answer.  His showing of excusable neglect is a 
little cursory, impliedly centering on his reported belief that he had not been properly served.  
Given the absence of either any opposition to this motion or any arguable unfair prejudice to 
plaintiffs, however, it is clearly in the interest of justice to vacate the default and allow defendant 
to defend himself in this action. 
 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01752 
CASE NAME: DOWDY VS MANORCARE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PORTIONS OF THE 1ST AMND COMPL 
FILED BY MANORCARE HEALTH SERVICES-TICE VALLEY LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant ManorCare Health Services –Tice Valley, LLC moves to strike various parts of the 

First Amended Complaint.  The motion to strike is denied as to requests 3, 5 and 7. 

Otherwise it is granted with leave to amend.  

Punitive Damages 

In requests nos. 1, 2, 4, 6 and 8, Defendant seeks to strike allegations dealing with punitive 

damages.  As explained in the demurrer, the allegations do not show that the corporate 

defendant ratified conduct that would subject it to punitive damages.  The requests to strike 

allegations related to punitive damages are therefore granted with leave to amend.  

Attorney Fees 

In request no. 5, Defendant seeks to strike allegations that plaintiffs are entitled to “statutory 

damages… as well as costs and attorney’s fees”, which are included in cause of action two for 

violation of Patient’s Bills of Rights. Attorney fees are available for claims under Health and 

Safety Code §1430.  (Shuts v. Covenant Holdco LLC (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 609, 614 [“Section 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   12 
HEARING DATE:   06/07/19 

 
 

- 8 - 

1430, subdivision (b) authorizes statutory damages, attorney fees, and injunctive relief.”].)  This 

request to strike is denied.   

In request no. 9, Defendant seeks to strike the prayer for relief seeking attorney fees and costs 

under Welfare and Institutions Code §15657(a) and Civil Code § 1430(b).  The latter is a 

mis-citation, presumably intending Health & Safety Code § 1430(b).  This should be corrected 

by amendment. 

Other Allegations 

In the remaining requests, defendant seeks to strike allegations unrelated to attorney fees or 

punitive damages.  Defendant did not explain why these allegations should be stricken in its 

moving papers.  Therefore, the requests are denied. 

  

 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-01752 
CASE NAME: DOWDY VS MANORCARE 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of DOWDY FILED BY 
MANORCARE HEALTH SERVICES-TICE VALLEY LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant ManorCare Health Services –Tice Valley, LLC demurs to causes of action one and 

two in the First Amended Complaint.  The demurrer is sustained with leave to amend as to 

cause of action one and overruled as to cause of action two.  Plaintiffs may file and serve 

an amended complaint by June 28, 2019.  If they elect not to do so, ManorCare’s answer to the 

remaining causes of action will be due two weeks after that date. 

Plaintiff Counsel’s Failure to Meet and Confer 

In its ruling of March 8, 2019 (the time of the previous demurrer), the Court expressly criticized 

plaintiffs’ counsel for failing to engage in the required meet-and-confer with defendant’s counsel, 

and expressly warned that any repetition of that failure would result in consequences, including 

sanctions.  ManorCare’s counsel again files declarations stating that he sought to conduct the 

mandatory meet-and-confer before filing either this demurrer or the motion to strike (Line 7), and 

plaintiffs’ counsel just blew it off without response. 

Accordingly, plaintiffs’ counsel is ordered to show cause on August 21, 2019 at 8:30 a.m., why 

they should not be sanctioned on this account. 

Dependent Adult Abuse (cause of action one) 

“In order to obtain the [Elder Abuse] Act’s heightened remedies, a plaintiff must allege conduct 

essentially equivalent to conduct that would support recovery of punitive damages.”  (Covenant 

Care, Inc. v. Superior Court (2004) 32 Cal.4th 771, 789; see Welf. & Inst. Code § 15610.57 

[defining neglect].)  The Act provides remedies for acts of egregious abuse against elder and 
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dependent adults, while allowing merely negligent acts to be governed by the law of negligence. 

(Delaney v. Baker (1999) 20 Cal.4th 23, 31-32, 35.)  The plaintiff must prove by clear and 

convincing evidence that the defendant has been guilty of recklessness, oppression, fraud, or 

malice in the commission of the neglect. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 15657; Carter v. Prime 

Healthcare Paradise Valley LLC (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 396, 405.)  Recklessness involves a 

deliberate disregard of the high degree of probability of injury, rising to the level of a conscious 

choice of a course of action with knowledge of the danger.  (Carter at 405.)  Finally, the facts for 

this claim must be pleaded with particularity. (Carter, supra, 198 Cal.App.4th at 410 (emphasis 

added).) 

ManorCare attacks this cause of action on two grounds, one of which is unconvincing.  

However, the Court sustains the demurrer for insufficient allegation of corporate ratification. 

ManorCare argues that plaintiffs have not alleged facts showing neglect or abandonment.  This 

argument fails.  Plaintiffs allege that ManorCare’s employees or agents caused plaintiff pain 

after yanking and pulling on him hard enough to break his bone, and then ignored his pain and 

scoffed at his complaints for three days.  (FAC ¶25.)  These facts are sufficient to support a 

claim for dependent adult abuse based upon neglect.  The yanking and pulling on plaintiff, 

viewed separately, might not go beyond gross negligence; there is no allegation that this was 

done maliciously or callously, as opposed to merely incompetently.  However, the additional 

allegations that the staff ignored and scoffed at Plaintiff’s pain for three days are sufficient to 

bring this claim to the level of recklessness, at least for pleading purposes. 

To state a claim of this kind against defendant corporation, however, it is insufficient simply to 

allege such liability against employees.  ManorCare correctly argues that plaintiffs have not 

alleged ratification of the wrongful conduct as required when suing a corporate defendant.  In 

order to show that ManorCare, a corporation, is liable for the acts of its employees and agent 

under this statute, there must be some ratification of the employee/agent’s conduct or some 

action by officer, director, or managing agent of the corporation that shows oppression, fraud, or 

malice.  (See Welf. & Inst. Code §15657(c) and Civil Code §3294(b).) 

Plaintiffs allege that ManorCare has a practice of understaffing and having insufficiently trained 

staff in order to receive higher profits.  (FAC ¶¶33-34.)  The problem for plaintiffs is that there is 

no suggestion of any causal link between the alleged understaffing resulted in the dependent 

adult abuse alleged here.  The FAC does not link the understaffing to either the yanking and 

pulling of plaintiff or to the ignoring of plaintiff’s complaints of pain.  The allegation of insufficient 

training is simply a repackaging of the allegation of negligent conduct. 

Plaintiff also alleges that the facility had administrators or managing agents which were involved 

in reviewing surveys conducted by the California Department of Public Health.  (FAC ¶38.)  But 

the facts alleged to do not state what these surveys showed or how they relate to plaintiff’s 

injury.   

Violation of Patient Bill of Rights (cause of action two) 
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Health and Safety Code §1430(b) provides that a resident of a nursing facility can bring a civil 

action against the licensee of a facility who violates the Patients’ Bill of Rights, 22 CCR § 72527, 

or any other right provided for by federal or state law or regulation, for statutory penalties, 

attorney’s fees, and injunctive relief.  Section 72527(a) contains 27 separate patient rights, 

including the right to be free from mental and physical abuse, treated with respect, 

consideration, and dignity, and the rights specified in Health & Safety Code section 1599.1.  

(22 CCR § 72527(a)(10), (12), (25).)  In addition, federal law requires that residents at long term 

care facilities, receive “the necessary care and services to attain or maintain the highest 

practicable physical, mental, and psychosocial well-being.”  (42 C.F.R. § 483.24.) 

Injuring a patient’s femur and then ignoring and scoffing at his complaints of pain for three days 

is sufficient to show violations of the Patient’s Bill of Rights based on physical abuse and the 

failure to be treated with respect, consideration, and dignity. In addition, such conduct would be 

a violation of 42 C.F.R. § 483.24.  Thus, the facts here are sufficient to show a violation of the 

Patients’ Bill of Rights.  

Plaintiffs request for judicial notice is denied as unnecessary.  These documents are already 

part of the Court’s file. 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02190 
CASE NAME: RODRIGUEZ VS CALIBER 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PARTS OF 2ND AMND COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CALIBER HOME LOANS INC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This motion is continued to June 14, 2019, at 9:00 a.m. 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-02190 
CASE NAME: RODRIGUEZ VS CALIBER 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT of RODRIGUEZ FILED 
BY CALIBER HOME LOANS INC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
This demurrer is continued to June 14, 2019, at 9:00 a.m. 
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11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-00119 
CASE NAME: JERRY D SMITH VS GRACE S CHOU, 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PLTF'S COMPLAINT FILED BY GRACE 
S CHOU, M.D, STANFORD HEALTH CARE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendants move to strike the prayer for punitive damages from the complaint, pursuant to 
Code of Civil Procedure § 435.13.  The motion is granted.  Plaintiff is given leave to file a first 
amended complaint within 30 days after service of an Order After Hearing hereon. 
 
This is a medical malpractice case.  The form complaint was filed pro per.  Plaintiff did not check 
the box for compensatory damages.  He checked only the box for punitive damages, and filled 
in the amount of $2 million as the amount of damages.  The Court would ordinarily take the 
latter allegation as referring to plaintiff’s alleged compensatory damages, not the amount of 
proposed punitive damages – except that the complaint as filed actually doesn’t request any 
compensatory damages.  The Court assumes this was an oversight – hence the invitation to 
amend.  (Indeed, defendants’ counsel states that plaintiff agreed in meet-and-confer to file an 
amended complaint deleting the punitive-damages allegation, but he does not done so.) 
 
The Court draws plaintiff’s attention to the fact that if he doesn’t file the amended complaint, he 
faces the prospect of having his case dismissed altogether.  With the prayer for punitive 
damages stricken, and no prayer for compensatory damages in the complaint, the present 
complaint literally doesn’t ask for any damages at all. 
 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL17-00998 
CASE NAME: KORB VS ROMERO 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR VACATE DEFAULT FILED BY EDWARD J ROMERO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Last week’s ruling continued this motion to July 12. 

  

13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-0172 
CASE NAME: KHOURI VS. DMV 
HEARING ON PETITION TO/FOR WRIT OF OF MANDATE FILED BY MOUSA 
RAFIQ KHOURI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Petitioner Mousa Rafiq Khouri’s Petition for Writ of Mandate from the Suspension of Petitioner’s 

California Driver’s License is denied.  Petitioner has not met his burden of convincing the court 

the decision of the DMV’s Administrative Per Se hearing is contrary to the weight of the 

evidence. 

Administrative Per Se Hearing 
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On March 11, 2018, Petitioner Mousa Rafiq Khouri was arrested in Alameda County on the 

suspicion of driving under the influence in violation of Vehicle Code § 23152(a).  Petitioner was 

advised of the “implied consent” (Vehicle Code § 23612) and allegedly refused a chemical test.  

The arresting officer, Officer Zimmerman, obtained a warrant to draw Petitioner’s blood.  The 

blood test showed a BAC of 0.15%.   

Petitioner requested an administrative per se hearing.  The hearing was conducted over two 

sessions, on September 11, 2018 and on January 16, 2019.  After hearing, it was determined 

that the peace officer had reasonable cause to believe Petitioner was driving under the influence 

and placed under lawful arrest.  It was also determined that Petitioner was given the admonition 

and refused to complete the chemical test.  Petitioner received Notification of Findings and 

Decision on January 21, 2019.  Respondent stated that Petitioner’s license would be suspended 

from January 26, 2019 through January 25, 2020. 

Petition 

This Petition for Writ of Mandate is an appeal of Respondent’s DVM’s Administrative Per Se 

hearing sustaining an order of suspension of Petitioner’s privilege to operate a motor vehicle.  

Petitioner Mousa Rafiq Khouri alleges the suspension of his driving privileges was unlawfully 

and unconstitutionally imposed in that the suspension was not supported by competent 

evidence and violated the interest of justice.  Petitioner seeks to set aside the suspension 

arbitrarily entered against him and order that his California Driver’s License be reinstated and 

returned to him. 

The sole issue raised on this Petition is whether Petitioner was given proper admonition of the 

consequences of his refusal to submit to a chemical test.  Vehicle Code § 23612 requires that 

arrestees be properly advised that their failure to submit to chemical testing will result in 

mandatory suspension or revocation of the driver’s license.  The admonition must be 

comprehensible and effectively communicated to the arrestee.  (See Thompson v. Dept. of 

Motor Vehicles (1980) 107 Cal.App.3d 354, 358.) 

Petitioner alleges Officer Zimmerman admonished him in a manner that Petitioner was 

incapable of comprehending through no fault of his own.  Officer Zimmerman admonished 

Petitioner in English, and English is Petitioner’s second language.  Petitioner argues the 

evidence shows that Petitioner acted out of confusion, rather than an intent to refuse to submit 

to the chemical test.  Moreover, Petitioner contends he was not properly advised of the 

consequences of the refusal or failure to submit to the chemical test. 

Standard of Review 

Vehicle Code § 13559(a) vests in this Court the jurisdiction to review DMVs’ decisions.  

(Although the arrest occurred in Alameda County, venue is proper here because this is 

Petitioner’s county of residence.)  Where the petition for a writ of administrative mandate follows 

an order of suspension, the superior court is required to determine, based on the exercise of its 
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independent judgment, whether the weight of the evidence supports the administrative decision.  

(Morgenstern v. Department of Motor Vehicles (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 366, 372.) 

“In reviewing the administrative record, the court makes its own determination about the 

credibility of the witnesses.”  (Ibid.)  However, “In exercising its independent judgment, a trial 

court must afford a strong presumption of correctness concerning the administrative findings, 

and the party challenging the administrative decision bears the burden of convincing the court 

that the administrative findings are contrary to the weight of the evidence.”  (Fukuda v. City of 

Angels (1999) 20 Cal.4th 805, 817.) 

The court’s review shall be on the record of the hearing and the court shall not consider other 

evidence.  (Veh. Code §13559(a).)  “If the court finds that the department exceeded its 

constitutional or statutory authority, made an erroneous interpretation of the law, acted in an 

arbitrary and capricious manner, or made a determination which is not supported by the 

evidence in the record, the court may order the department to rescind the order of suspension or 

revocation and return, or reissue a new license to, the person.”  (Ibid.) 

Analysis 

Petitioner lodged the administrative record with the court on May 17, 2019.  The following 

exhibits were admitted into evidence at the administrative hearing:  the DS-367 form; order of 

suspension of temporary license endorsement; blood test report; narrative report of Officer Irvin; 

CHP driving under the influence arrest investigation report; and petitioner’s driving record 

printout.  Also, the CHP Mobile Video-Audio Recording System (“MVARS”) was admitted into 

evidence.  Officer Zimmerman was the only witness to testify. 

The record, including the Court’s independent review of the MVARS recording, shows that 

Petitioner was properly admonished regarding the chemical test and consequences of refusal to 

submit to the test.  Officer Zimmerman testified that he read the admonition on Form DS-367:2; 

35:13-22) and Petitioner refused.  Officer Zimmerman testified that when he asked Petitioner if 

he understood the admonition, Petitioner stated “I think so.”  (Hearing Transcript at 36: 7-38:14.)  

Also, the MVARS recording is consistent with Officer Zimmerman’s testimony. 

Once the DMV establishes its prima facie case by presenting documents, the driver must 
produce affirmative evidence of the nonexistence of the presumed facts sufficient to shift the 
burden of proof back to the DMV.  (Roze v. Department of Motor Vehicles (2006) 141 
Cal.App.4th 1176, 1183.)  “‘The licensee must show, “through cross-examination of the officer or 
by the introduction of affirmative evidence, that official standards were in any respect not 
observed ….”  [Citation.]”  (Ibid.) 
 
Petitioner argues there is substantial evidence that Petitioner did not understand the 

admonitions Officer Zimmerman provided.  At the hearing, Petitioner presented evidence that 

Petitioner asked Officer Zimmerman to repeat the admonition several times.  (RT 35-39.)  After 

the first admonition, Petitioner responded that he did not understand.  (Administrative Record 

(“AR”), CHP Mobile Video-Audio Recording System (“MVARS”) recording, 1:04:51.)  To several 

question and commands, Petitioner either stated he did not understand or provided answers 
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that indicated a lack of comprehension.  (AR, MVARS, 11:40, 21:35, 37:44.)  At one point, Mr. 

Khouri stated, “no, I mean, I understand what you’re saying, but sometimes I’m not really 

understand what you are saying.”  (AR, MVARS recording, 27:56.)   

“In reviewing the administrative record, the court acts as a trier of fact; it has the power and 

responsibility to weigh the evidence and make its own determination about the credibility of the 

witnesses.”  (Roze v. Department of Motor Vehicles (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 1176, 1184.)  The 

Court reviewed the transcript of the hearing and the MVARS recording.  The evidence shows 

that Officer Zimmerman made no ambiguous or conflicting statements.  The MVARS shows 

Officer Zimmerman explained the chemical test was not the same as the PAS testing.  The 

MVARS shows, and Officer Zimmerman’s testimony demonstrates, that the admonishment was 

read to Petitioner.  Moreover, Officer Zimmerman explained the admonition several times, 

answering Petitioner’s questions about it. 

Petitioner maintains the admonition was incomprehensible and confusing to Petitioner because 
of the language barrier.  Petitioner argues the standard under Thompson v. Department of 
Motor Vehicles (1980) 107 Cal.App.3d 354, is whether the driver actually understood the 
admonition.  In Thompson there was evidence that the police radio transmissions were loud 
enough to interfere with respondent's hearing of the admonishment, so the question was 
whether the officer’s communication was effective.  The court in Thompson held, “We believe 
that the burden is properly placed on the officer to give the warning required by section 13353 in 
a manner comprehensible to the driver.  When the driver, through no fault of his own, is unable 
to understand the warning, he should not suffer the consequence of a license suspension.”  
(107 Cal.App.3d at 363.) 

Here, there are no concerns of interference with communication of the admonishments or 

Petitioner’s failure to understand through no fault of his own.  After independent review of the 

evidence, the Court finds as follows:  The record shows Mr. Khouri has lived in the United 

States approximately twenty years, and holds a job in a retail store.  Officer Zimmerman testified 

Petitioner spoke English “just fine”.  (Hearing Transcript, 45:15-25.)  The court finds Officer 

Zimmerman’s testimony credible.  Moreover, the court’s finds based on its own observation of 

the MVARS recording Petitioner’s refusal does not appear to be the result of confusion due to a 

language barrier.  Throughout the MVARS recording Petitioner was conversant with the officers 

in English.  To most of the officer’s questions, his responses were appropriate to the questions 

being asked.  Although Petitioner stated several times that English was his second language, 

the evidence does not demonstrate difficulty in comprehending the information due to language 

barrier.  There is substantial evidence that Petitioner understood the admonishment and the 

consequences of refusing the chemical test. 

There is no dispute that English is Petitioner’s second language.  “Second language”, however, 

is by no means the same as “not conversant or fluent”.  English was the second language of 

Einstein, Kissinger, Cesar Chavez, and countless other Americans who could fully understand 

the language nonetheless.  The Court’s review of the MVARS recording, as well as Officer 

Zimmerman’s uncontradicted testimony, readily shows that Petitioner understood what he was 

being told, at least after some repetitions and further explanations. 
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Petitioner has not demonstrated the weight of the evidence is contrary to the administrative 

decision.  The writ is therefore denied. 

 

13.5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00372 
CASE NAME: HOGAN VS. ARVEST CENTRAL MORTG 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT FILED BY ARVEST CENTRAL 
MORTGAGE COMPANY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant’s motion for summary judgment is granted. 

The Court’s ruling of August 31, 2018 described the substance of the present lawsuit – a 

description still accurate, based on the parties’ present briefs: 

The parties apparently agree on the relevant facts in this case.  Plaintiff Hogan 

entered into a refinance with defendant Arvest calling for fixed interest payments, 

plus payments into an escrow account intended (the Court gathers) to ensure 

payment of property taxes and insurance.  As plaintiff acknowledges, the amount 

of the required payments into escrow was subject to annual adjustment.  Plaintiff, 

however, persisted in making payments in the same, unadjusted amount, 

ignoring the annual notices of increases in the required escrow payment 

amounts, and repeated warnings that she was underpaying.  She alleges that 

instead she was paying the taxes and [insurance] directly, so that when the 

lender attempted to pay them out of the escrow fund, the payments were 

returned to the lender (thus keeping the balance of the escrow account where it 

should be). 

The Court commented at that time that it appeared both sides were being senselessly obstinate 

about this whole dispute – plaintiff by insisting on making tax and insurance payments directly, 

even though the contract expressly required that she instead pay them through the escrow; and 

defendant by insisting on payment through the escrow, even though the underlying charges 

were actually being paid by other means.  The Court is therefore glad to hear that the parties 

have since reverted to a more sensible course of action, and that the loan has now been 

reinstated and is now in good standing. 

There remains, however, the present complaint, the gist of which is that defendant was making 

false credit reports by reporting that plaintiff was not making sufficient payments including the 

required escrow amounts.  Defendant’s case for summary judgment is as straightforward as it is 

meritorious:  Plaintiff was making (or tendering) insufficient payments, because she was not 

making the contractually required escrow payments.  Defendant was simply reporting an 

established fact in saying so.  There was, accordingly, neither any false reporting nor any bona 

fide dispute.  The facts underlying this argument are entirely undisputed, and the argument is 

correct. 
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Plaintiff’s opposing argument rests entirely on her assertion that “Plaintiff paid her property taxes 

and insurance separately and directly to the tax collector and insurance company, so that her 

total payment complied with her obligation.”  (E.g., Plaintiff’s Separate Statement, ¶ 5.)  (Plaintiff 

supports this assertion by citation to her own declaration, which (as defendant notes) was not in 

fact filed.  Nevertheless, the factual statement of direct payment is not contested.)  The problem 

is, though, that it is simply untrue that “her total payment complied with her obligation”.  As 

plaintiff does not dispute, her contractual obligation was not simply to see that the taxes and 

insurance got paid.  Her contractual obligation, unambiguously and without dispute, was to pay 

those amounts into escrow.  She does not dispute that that was what the contract required, and 

she admits her failure to do so.  That necessarily means that (whether or not it was acting 

prudently), defendant was entirely within its rights in rejecting plaintiff’s payments as insufficient 

in amount, and in reporting that plaintiff was not making the required payments. 

In light of this disposition, the Court sees no need to get into defendant’s preemption argument, 

which appears rather muddy as to which subdivisions of Civil Code § 1785.25 are really at 

issue.  Further, defendant cites no binding authority and failed timely to proffer copies of its non-

binding citations in support.  And it is not at all clear from defendant’s argument whether, if there 

were preemption, the result would be dismissal rather than simply a recasting of the same 

factual claims under federal law. 

 

 


